SID J. WHITE

JUL 14 1993

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

RENUKA PRASAD,

APPEAL NO: 91-3914 SUPREME COURT NO: 81,825

Appellant,

vs.

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellee.

STATEMENT RE: RECORD NOTATIONS

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

HARVEY B. HARDY, ESQUIRE HOLBROOK, HARDY & BARBER, P.A. Attorneys for Appellant

200 E. Robinson Street, Suite 1100 Orlando, Florida 32801 (407) 422-1906 Florida Bar No.: 211044

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This cause commenced below in a Declaratory Judgment action in which Appellee, Allstate Insurance Company sought a Deluxe Homeowner's insurance policy declaration that its provided no coverage for personal injuries sustained by Appellant, Renuka Prasad at the hands of one Toreshwar Nauth and through the negligence of one Chandra Palat. The cause was commenced by Allstate filing a Complaint (R1-1) seeking declaratory judgment with attachments including a State Court action for damages and a copy of Allstate's insurance policy. Later, an Amended Complaint was filed by Allstate (R1-8) attaching a copy of the deluxe homeonwer's policy and a copy of the Complaint PRASAD filed against NAUTH and PALAT in the Circuit Court in and For Orange County, Florida bearing case number CI91-15. Following a Motion to Dismiss (R1-9) which was denied, Renuka Prasad filed her Answer on May 16, 1991 (R1-14). A Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R1-17) with Memoranda (R1-18) and Supplemental Authority (R1-19) was soon thereafter filed by Allstate. The Court below initially and without opinion granted on July 30, 1991 the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R1-21). However, this was before Renuka Prasad's Memorandum in Opposition had been filed largely due to communication difficulties between counsel of record. In any event, counsel for Allstate agreed to an extension of time to file the memorandum, and counsel for Renuka Prasad filed a Motion for Relief from Judgment (1-22)

-1-

with memorandum (R1-23). Renuka Prasad also filed on August 12, 1991 a Memorandum (R1-23) in Opposition to the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings previously filed. On August 21, 1991 the Court below entered an Order (R1-25) granting the Motion for Relief from Judgment on the Pleadings, again granting the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, declaring the policy of insurance inapplicable, as a matter of law, to any conceivable allegation or scenario which could arise from the allegations of the State Court Complaint.

Prasad, on September 19, 1991, filed her Notice of Appeal to the Eleventh Circuit of the United States Court of Appeals. Briefs were filed and Oral Argument had in Atlanta, Georgia on November 3, 1992. By opinion dated May 20, 1993 (<u>Allstate Insurance Company v. Prasad</u>, #91-3914) the Eleventh Circuit Certified three questions to this Honorable Court:

- "Under Florida law, does the intentional acts exclusion of the policy in question apply in circumstances alleged in the State Court Complaint?"
- 2. "Are the injuries alleged in the State Court Complaint the result of an 'accidental loss' as described in the policy?"
- 3. "Does the criminal acts exclusion of the policy apply in the circumstances alleged in the State Court Complaint?"

Since this case is on appeal from the granting of a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, the only relevant facts in the record, are the allegations in the original Complaint seeking damages, as filed in State Court, which original

-2-

Complaint was attached to the Amended Declaratory Judgment Complaint (R1-8) and the terms of the insurance policy also attached to the Amended Complaint for Declaratory Judgment.

**,** '

With regard to the original Complaint, and as can be seen from the record, Plaintiff, Renuka Prasad filed a Complaint against Toreshwar Nauth and Chandra Palat for damages occasioned by personal injuries she sustained at the hands of Toreshwar Nauth. It is also alleged that the damages were a result of negligence to be discussed more fully below on the part of Chandra Palat.

The Appellee herein, Allstate Insurance Company, pre-empted the State Court by filing a Declaratory Judgment action in the Middle District of Florida, Orlando Division, seeking to have its rights and obligations under a Deluxe Homeowner's insurance policy under which both Chandra Palat and Toreshwar Nauth were "insureds", determined vis-a-vis the facts and circumstances of the events alleged in the State Court Complaint.

Basically, the Complaint in State Court contained the following allegations: Toreshwar Nauth was Chandra Palat's adult son. Chandra Palat assumed the care of Toreshwar Nauth as his guardian, with respect to his daily living, knowing that he could become violently insane if he did not maintain medication for his chronic paranoid schizophrenia. PALAT knew that Toreshwar Nauth was a chronic paranoid schizophrenic and had been hospitalized periodically in the past during his

-3-

thirty-six year lifetime. Chandra Palat knew that Toreshwar Nauth was only stable when he remained on his antipsychotic medicine.

Before the accident, Toreshwar Nauth negligently stopped taking his medication even though Chandra Palat told him to continue to take his medications. As result of а his negligent failure to take his medication, Toreshwar Nauth's mental condition deteriorated dramatically, and he threatened Chandra Palat. On February 26, 1989 Chandra Palat asked the Plaintiff below, Renuka Prasad, to her house. PALAT did not tell PRASAD when she invited PRASAD to her home, that NAUTH was not taking his medication; she did not advise PRASAD that the mental condition of NAUTH had deteriorated; nor did PALAT advise PRASAD that PALAT had been violently threatened herself Additionally, Chandra Palat failed to control by NAUTH. Toreshwar Nauth nor did she even warn Renuka Prasad of his dangerous propensities on the date of the incident, nor the fact that he was not taking his medication and that he had become violent.

When Renuka Prasad arrived, Toreshwar Nauth approached her simply carrying a knife, and then without warning, Toreshwar NAUTH stabbed her repeatedly. Doctors Gutman and Denzinger, both psychiatrists appointed by the State Court, have said that Toreshwar Nauth was and remains a chronic paranoid delusional schizophrenic. The doctors determined that as Toreshwar Nauth was not on his medication, he had

-4-

severely deteriorated in his mental condition, and was insane and was totally unable to form any kind of intent.

It is alleged that the negligence of Chandra Palat consists of her failure to warn Renuka Prasad and failure to control the person over whom she had voluntarily undertaken care during his mental illness. The negligence of Toreshwar Nauth is alleged to have been in not taking his medication, and as a result thereafter his deterioration into a mentally deranged state without volition resulting in the injuries sustained by Renuka Prasad.

The Court below reviewed the pleadings only and decided that coverage of Chandra Palat for the negligence of PALAT or the negligence of Toreshwar Nauth, did not exist under the policy of homeowner's insurance attached to the Amended Complaint for Declaratory Judgment. Since the case was decided on a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, only the Amended Complaint and policy of insurance were considered along with the memoranda. Had the case progressed, facts would have come out showing that a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings was inappropriate. The Order reviewed should be reversed because the Court below erred in formulating and/or applying the various rules of law and rules of construction for interpreting insurance policies. The Court below also erred in granting a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings where there were circumstances which if proven would have been covered by the insurance policy at issue and consequently the Court also improperly erred in applying the rule of law to the relief sought below.

-5-

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Since the injuries must be an "accidental loss" before the outset, the question of applies at what coverage "accidental loss" will be dealt with constitutes an initially. Only if a loss is accidental need an insured move on to determine the applicability of the exclusion raised by to whether such injuries may reasonably be Allstate as expected to result from the intentional or criminal acts of an insured person.

In the construction of insurance policies, the first inquiry is whether a term in question is ambiguous, to wit: susceptible of more than one meaning. If so, the policy language must be constructed broadly for coverage. This very Court has held in Dimmitt Chevrolet v. Southeastern Fidelity (infra) that the term sudden and accidental is ambiguous as a matter of law. The definition, applied by the Court, is that as long as the result is unexpected and unintentional on the part of the insured, it is accidental. Toreshwar Nauth failed to take his medicine and as a result was swept back into a chronic paranoid schizophrenic insanity in which he injured his sister, Renuka Prasad. The injuries were unexpected and unintentional from the standpoint of the insured, Toreshwar Applying prior definitions of "accident" utilized by Nauth. Allstate from the case of Christ v. Progressive (infra) "accidental". Therefore the being results in this loss failure to take his medicine was the known cause of the

-6-

knifing but the knifing, was an unintentional result. Thus it can be seen that the definition of "accidental" is <u>result</u> related and is dependent on what the insured expected or intended.

. •

As to Chandra Palat, the failure to control Toreshwar Nauth, or warn Renuka Prasad, resulted in an unexpected and unintentional (by Palat) knifing as well as resulting from an unexpected event from a known cause.

The next area of inquiry is whether the acts of either Toreshwar Nauth or Chandra Palat were intended or criminal and, if so, and only if so, whether the injuries were reasonably expected to result from the criminal or intentional acts.

With respect to whether Toreshwar Nauth's acts were either intentional or criminal, it is alleged in the Amended Complaint, and thus stipulated for the purposes of this appeal, that Toreshwar Nauth was a unmedicated chronic paranoid schizophrenic. He was found by doctors not able to formulate intent. Had the case progressed, testimony would have revealed that his actions and emotions of his body were not even volitional. In order for the intentional or criminal act exclusion to apply, there must at least be some volition on the part of the actor; otherwise all actions which an outsider might think, could reasonably cause harm would be deemed to be "intentional". If Allstate wished to have a limited definition of intent, then the same should have been

-7-

in their policy. The rules of construction require that the broad definition be given the afford where there is more than one definition available for a term-in this event "intentional or criminal". Toreshwar Nauth was totally incapable of formulating intent. The pleadings so alleged that without intent he was incapable of a "criminal event" and it is so alleged. He was insane at the time of the event and at the time of trial.

There is no suggestion that Chandra Palat acted either intentionally or criminally, in failing to control her son or warn of the danger.

Only when the acts of "an insured" (Nauth here) are determined to be criminal or intentional does the inquiry proceed to whether the "bodily injury" the result may be reasonably expected from the acts." Appellant, Renuka Prasad, submits however that even if the acts were somehow deemed "intentional or criminal", it is not reasonable to expect that Toreshwar Nauth's failing to take his medicine would result in his total relapse into insanity further resulting in the stabbing of his sister.

A Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings cannot be granted where under any scenario, the non-moving party would be entitled to the relief sought. Under the scenarios suggested above, coverage is afforded, and therefore no exclusions apply under the Allstate policy for the actions complained of against Chanda Palat and Toreshwar Nauth.

-8-

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE POLICY OF INSURANCE HEREIN AT ISSUE MUST BE BROADLY CONSTRUED TO AFFORD COVERAGE TO INSUREDS IF ANY PERTINENT POLICY TERMS, PROVISIONS OR LANGUAGE IS AMBIGUOUS.

beginning with Before the argument concerning the insurance contract at issue and the pleadings at issue herein, it is necessary to note that when a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings is filed, all of the factual allegations of the Complaint are accepted as true. Hill v. Linahan, 697 F.2d 1032 (11th Cir. 1983). Additionally, the Court must examine the Complaint and see if the Plaintiff might recover under any circumstances which could be proven. General Guaranty v. 369 F.2d 825 (5th Cir. 1966). A Declaratory Parkerson, Judgment action, in the case herein, applies those rules to the policy applicable thereto as attached to the Amended Complaint for Declaratory Judgment (R1-8).

Where an insurance policy is at issue and the policy provisions are uncertain or ambiguous, the policy must be construed liberally in favor of coverage though Courts must not rewrite contracts. <u>State Farm v. Pridgen</u>, 498 So.2d 1245 (Fla. 1986). By definition, an ambiguity exists where more than one interpretation may be fairly given to a policy provision. <u>Ellsworth v. INA</u>, 508 So.2d 395 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

The first question in this cause is then whether the policy language is ambiguous, i.e. is there more than one

-9-

meaning, construction, or for any of the pertinent terms "accidental", "intentional" or "criminal". If a policy contains ambiguous provisions, then that definition, if available, which affords coverage must be applied.

## II. THE INJURIES ALLEGED IN THE STATE COURT COMPLAINT ARE AN "ACCIDENTAL LOSS" AS DESCRIBED IN THE POLICY.

The first inquiry in the case pending before this Court, is whether, under any circumstances the actions alleged in the Complaint could be shown to be "an accidental loss" which <u>an</u> insured becomes legally obligated to pay. Two insureds have been sued. If as to either of them their conduct constitutes an accident, then that person is covered unless an exclusion (which will be discussed <u>infra</u>) applies.

• -

After all the briefs had been filed in the Eleventh Circuit, this Honorable Court issued its opinion in Dimmitt Chevrolet v. Southeastern Fidelity Insurance Co., 17 FLW S579 (9/3/92). There this very Court was called upon to interpret the policy term "sudden and accidental". This Court held that the term "sudden and accidental" was ambiguous as a matter of law, thus fulfilling the first step in policy construction/ interpretation (i.e. determining if a term is susceptible to more than one meaning). This Court in Dimmitt, infra, discussed the various definitions of "accidental" and again required as by our rules of construction, adopted a broad definition (as did the states of Georgia and Wisconsin as discussed therein) affording coverage. The definition stated that as long as the result is "unexpected and unintended, on the part of the insured", its an accident.

It is alleged in the case at bar that Toreshwar Nauth neither expected nor intended the injuries to Renuka Prasad. He was insane and literally did not know what he was doing.

-11-

He certainly did not expect or intend his failure to take his medicine to result in knife wounds to Renuka Prasad. The psychiatrists found that the act of stabbing was not intended or expected by Toreshwar Nauth nor was the result expected or intended (injuries to Renuka Prasad).

The facts as alleged in the Amended Complaint (State Court Complaint) with respect to Chandra Palat show that she neither expected nor intended her failure to warn Renuka Prasad, nor her failure to control Toreshwar Nauth to result in injuries to Renuka Prasad.

important to note It. is that this definition of "accident" will not require coverage to be afforded in the sexual offense cases Allstate so heavily relied upon in its briefs and arguments. In the sexual abuse line of cases, the results (harm to a child) may not be specifically intended by the particular insured molestor, but surely these results are not totally unexpected by the insured molestor, and therefore all of these sexual molestor cases turned on the fact that the acts of the insured were intentional, and did not rest on the issue of the meaning of the term "accidental". Insane persons, such as Toreshwar Nauth do not have the cognitive presence to appreciate their actions, nor do they know what they are doing, nor do they have the capacity to expect any result from actions they are unaware of. The cognitive ability and understanding of the sex offender separates the sex offender, from a person such as Toreshwar Nauth, whom the

-12-

psychiatrists found can literally neither expect nor intend.

Renuka Prasad submits then that the question of whether an injury is caused by an "accident", depends on whether the results are expected or intended by the insured, and that this very Court has so held. The nature of the event giving rise to the result (here the injuries to Renuka Prasad) should only be considered on the issue of whether the intentional or criminal act exclusion applies. Whether an injury is "accidental" should depend on whether the results were Whether injuries are excluded from expected or intended. coverage should depend on whether the acts (event) were intentional or criminal and the injury expected reasonably.

Many Courts have, however, looked to the event, in determining whether a loss is the result of an accident. This is what Allstate has seemed to urge in its reliance on <u>Christ</u> <u>v. Progressive</u>, 101 So.2d 821 (Fla. 2d DCA 1958). Even using an "event approach" for defining "accident" (an approach Appellant Prasad urges should not be used in light of <u>Dimmitt</u>, <u>supra</u>), the losses sustained by Renuka Prasad are indisputably accidental losses.

The initial first inquiry is still whether "accident" is susceptible of more than one meaning so as to render the term ambiguous and thus require broad construction of the language for coverage. This Court in <u>Dimmitt</u>, <u>supra</u>, has held "sudden and accidental" to be ambiguous as a matter of law. This is not surprising. The Court in Christ, supra, mentioned at

-13**-**

least five different definitions for the word "accident". These include "unusual and unexpected events happening without negligence"; "an undesigned sudden and unexpected event"; "chance or contingency"; "happening by chance or unexpectedly" or; "an event from an unknown cause or an unexpected event from a known cause". <u>Christ v. Progressive Insurance</u>, 101 So.2d 821 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1958). Additionally, there are multiple definitions from Webster's Third New International Dictionary Unabridged including:

"a sudden event" or "change occurring without intent or volition through carelessness, unawareness or ignorance or a combination of causes in producing an unfortunate result."

The next question is whether any of those definitions or any other definition of "accident" affords coverage. With respect to Toreshwar Nauth, he has been charged in the Complaint in State Court, with negligently failing to take his medicine following which he became deranged and insane which in turn caused him to stab Renuka Prasad. The act and result was totally unexpected. Using the definition in <u>Christ</u>, <u>supra</u>, where the failure to take medicine resulted in a stabbing, it is an unexpected event (stabbing) from a known cause (failure to take the medicine). Also using the <u>Christ</u> definitions, an event happening unexpectedly is also one in which a person fails to take medicine following which he stabs a visitor to the house. Using the definition in Webster of:

-14-

an unforeseen, unplanned event or condition or a sudden event or change occurring without intent or volition through carelessness, unawareness or ignorance or a combination of causes producing an unfortunate result... it can be seen that the stabbing was certainly a sudden and unplanned event, and that due to the fact that the stabbing was accomplished by someone incapable of a volitional act, the act was without volition, and caused by the carelessness of Toreshwar Nauth (in not taking the medications necessary to render Toreshwar Nauth capable of volitional actions).

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