FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SEP 20 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURE

Chief Deputy Clerk

RENUKA PRASAD,

Appellant,

vs.

Supreme Court No.: 81,825

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellee.

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

SHARON LEE STEDMAN
Florida Bar No. 0303781
SHARON LEE STEDMAN, P.A.
1516 East Hillcrest Street
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32803
(407) 894-7844

LORI J. CALDWELL
Florida Bar No. 0268674
DAVID SHELTON
Florida Bar No. 0710539
RUMBERGER, KIRK & CALDWELL, P.A.
P.O. Box 1873
Orlando, Florida 32802
(407) 972-7300

Attorneys for the Appellee, Allstate Insurance Company

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The instant case involves a vicious aggravated battery with a deadly weapon committed by Nauth against his sister Renuka Prasad. Nauth was charged with aggravated battery with a deadly weapon, found incompetent to stand trial, subsequently found competent and was in fact tried by a jury. The jury found that Nauth committed the act but that he was not criminally responsible due to insanity.

In the police report on the matter, Nauth's mother, Chandra Palat, stated that Prasad came to the house, got into an argument with Nauth and Nauth went to the kitchen, grabbed a kitchen knife and attacked Prasad.

In the recorded statement to Allstate, Prasad verified Palat's version of the facts. Prasad declared that she had called the police the Friday before and begged them to take Nauth down to the hospital where he could get some help. On the date of the aggravated battery with a deadly weapon, Prasad went to her mother's house and Nauth was bothering the mother. Prasad kept telling Nauth to leave the mother alone but he kept cussing at Prasad instead. (Nauth was drinking at the time.) Nauth would not listen to Prasad and eventually got so mad that he picked up a knife from the countertop block and proceeded to stab Prasad in her chest and slashed her hand.

Based on these facts, Prasad filed a civil complaint in the state court against both Nauth and Palat. The complaint alleged negligence on the part of the mother for failure to give Prasad his anti-psychotic medicine. Prasad, however, stated in her recorded

statement to Allstate that Nauth was on medication and was taking the medication. Prasad also alleged in the state court complaint that she was not warned that Nauth was not taking his medicine and was acting crazy. Prasad further alleged that Nauth came at her without warning.

Allstate respectfully submits that it is only by artful pleading that Allstate was called upon to defend the instant case. Allstate's homeowners policy issued to Palat specifically declared that Palat was paying a premium to cover accidental losses. By no stretch of the imagination could the above scenario be called an accidental loss to fall within the homeowners policy. Surely, the average homeowner would not consider that he was buying coverage for the criminal acts of Nauth.

Even assuming arguendo that the incidents could somehow by the stretch of the imagination be considered an accidental loss, the incident is excluded from coverage by the intentional or criminal act exclusion. The specific policy that Palat bargained for from Allstate contains an exclusion with an objective test as to whether or not bodily injury is excluded. If a reasonable person would expect injuries to result from the act that forms the basis of the loss, then the damages caused thereby are excluded. One would reasonably expect injuries or damages to result from the repeated stabbing of a person about that person's arm, hand and body.

Additionally, whether or not Nauth was insane at the time of the incident has absolutely no application to the specific exclusionary provision in Allstate's Deluxe Homeowners Policy. The policy does not require the insured to act with an intent to injure. The policy also does not require that the insured act with criminal responsibility but only that the insured commits a criminal act. Aggravated battery with a deadly weapon is a criminal act although Nauth was not held criminally responsible for that act. The psychiatrists that examined Nauth specifically declared that they were determining whether or not Nauth had criminal responsibility for the act. The fact that he was held not to be criminally responsible does not alter the fact that Nauth committed a criminal act.

Because Nauth committed an intentional and criminal act, the insuring agreement portion of the policy specifically imposes joint obligations on persons defined as insured persons. That portion of the policy specifically declares: "this means that the responsibilities, acts and failures to act of a person defined as an insured person will be binding upon another person found to be an insured person." Both Nauth and Palat are defined as insured persons under the policy so that the act of Nauth is binding upon Palat.

This case illustrates a problem that needs solving in the State of Florida. Absent considerations of insurance, it would never occur to a lawyer to plead this plainly intentional tort as negligence. There is no good faith basis for asserting a claim of negligence in this case, although it is standard practice. The problem is that such a pleading creates a perfect conspiracy between a plaintiff and the insured and the insurer has no remedy.

Allstate submits that if an insurer is going to be bound by the facts as alleged by a complaint, then the drafter of that complaint has a corresponding duty to plead the facts as they are known to the drafter. The fact that lawyers are allowed to plead borderline fraudulent allegations in a complaint in order to reach the deep pocket of an insurance company can only foster the contempt that the public feels toward lawyers and the judicial system. The average homeowner would never consider that they were purchasing insurance to cover such acts as those alleged in the instant state court complaint. Homeowners and insurance companies would cringe at the thought that they had bargained for insurance to cover a vicious attack that the Florida statutes describe as an aggravated battery with a deadly weapon.

Allstate submits that this court should give true effect to the intentions of the parties in entering into this contract as expressed by the plain wording of the contract. The contract specifically covers only losses arising from an accidental loss. The contract also unequivocally and clearly excludes injury or damage which may reasonably be expected to result from the intentional or criminal acts of an insured person. That is what the parties bargained for and that is what this court should enforce.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE ALLSTATE'S DELUXE HOMEOWNERS POLICY IS NOT AMBIGUOUS AND SHOULD BE CONSTRUED TO GIVE TRUE EFFECT TO THE INTENTIONS OF THE PARTIES.

Allstate acknowledges the principle of law that if in fact a policy provision is deemed ambiguous then it should be construed in favor of coverage. However, the counter principle of law which is applicable to the instant case provides that where an insurance contract is not ambiguous, the contract must be given effect as written. State Farm Fire & Casualty Company v. Oliveras, 441 So.2d 175 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Allstate's policy language is not ambiguous and has been repeatedly applied in analogous cases without difficulty by courts throughout the country. E.g., Allstate Insurance Co. v. Bailey, 723 F.Supp. 665 (M.D. Fla. 1989); Allstate Insurance Co. v. Talbot, 690 F.Supp. 886 (N.D. Cal. 1988).

The appellant is requesting that this Court find an unambiguous policy ambiguous in order to reach the deep-pocket of Allstate. However, as eloquently declared by the Oliveras court, "The rule that ambiguities in insurance contracts are to be construed in favor of the insured see, e.g., Gayfer's, supra [366 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979)], is not license for our raiding the deep pocket [of insurers]". Id. at 177.

As the Fourth District more recently noted in Marr Investments, Inc. v. Greco: 18 Fla. L. Weekly D568, 569 (4th DCA Feb. 24, 1993):

However, it appears abundantly clear to us that the plaintiff's complaint has been framed in negligence solely to reach the 'deep pocket' of the insurance company (or its insured), as there is a clear distinction in the policy for assault and battery by a patron, which is what occurred in this case. It is wrong to require the insurance company to defend against facts that are clearly not within the coverage of the policy, even though the 'complaint' may be. We wholeheartedly agree with the concurring opinion of Judge Griffin in Allstate Insurance Company v. Conde, 595 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) on this issue.

18 Fla. L. Weekly D568, 569 (Fla. 4th DCA, Feb. 24, 1993).

The court in Marr Investments referred to Allstate Insurance Co. v. Conde, 595 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992)⁴, whose facts are analogous to the facts of this case. After a ten day separation from his family, Oswaldo Conde knocked on Margarita Montero's bedroom window in the early hours of June 29. Id. at 1006. Ms. Montero, accompanied by one of the children, admitted Mr. Conde into the home. Mr. Conde followed Ms. Montero back to the bedroom where the children were sleeping. Mr. Conde pulled a gun and, after stating "I'm tired of everything" or "I have come to end it all," shot Ms. Montero through the chest. He then shot the two children and shot Ms. Montero again with his last bullet. Id.

Ms. Montero filed a civil suit against Mr. Conde. She alleged both intentional wrongdoing (not covered by the policy) and negligent conduct. *Id*. Judge Griffin, concurring specially, noted that the case illustrated a problem which needs to be solved:

⁴ The Conde court certified the case as being one of great public importance but neither party invoked the jurisdiction of this court.

Given the undisputed facts of this case, absent considerations of insurance (the intentional act exclusion), it would never occur to a lawyer to plead this plainly intentional tort as negligence. ... I can see no good faith basis for asserting a claim for negligence in this case, although I recognize it as standard practice. The problem is that such a pleading creates a perfect conspiracy between a plaintiff and the insured and the insurer has no remedy.

Id. at 1008-9.

Judge Griffin further noted that a plaintiff pleads negligence in a case such as *Conde* because he wants a deep pocket from which to satisfy a judgment or, even better, to obtain a settlement:

Normally when a defendant is sued on a theory that is inadequately pleaded, he gets the claim dismissed or, if the claim is invalid under controlling law, he gets a summary judgment. But in cases such as this the normal antidotes for invalid claims do not work. An insured defendant is often totally committed to the negligence pleading of the plaintiff because as long as the negligence claim is included in the complaint, the insured must be provided a defense on the intentional tort claim, a benefit he would not have if the spurious negligence claim were missing. It is also more likely the insurer will come up with the money to settle the entire case based on the cost of defending the negligence In many of these cases, the defendant even has some relationship with the victim, or a sense of remorse, and thus has either an emotional or financial stake in having the plaintiff succeed in recovering a judgment under a theory covered by insurance. In a case where neither the plaintiff nor the defendant wants the covered claim disposed of, it is most unlikely to disappear.

Id. at 1009.

Finally, Judge Griffin noted that an insurer covenants to defend claims against the insured that are false, fraudulent or groundless. However, the covenant declares that the insurer will provide a defense if an insured person is sued for covered damages, even if the allegations are groundless, false or fraudulent. See Allstate's Deluxe Homeowners Policy (Appendix 6) at page 23.

In the instant case, the insured person cannot be sued for

covered damages because the policy only covers damages arising from an accidental loss. The insured repeatedly stabbed Prasad about the arms, hand and body and thereby negated any possibility of her injuries being an accidental loss. Consequently, the incident that was the subject of the state court complaint unequivocally shows that the incident did not involve a covered loss which Allstate either had the duty to defend or indemnify against the loss.

If allegations in a complaint are to be accepted as true, then the drafter of the complaint has an obligation to allege true facts. In the instant case, there can be no question as to the actual facts because all three parties to the complaint, Prasad, Nauth, and Palat, have agreed to the facts in documents filed in court pleadings. It does not further the integrity of the courts to allow false and/or incomplete facts that are known by the drafter to be alleged in order to reach a deep-pocket of a defendant. This turns the law of contracts as well as torts in general on its head and gives ammunition to the general public to hold the court system and attorneys up to ridicule.

POINT II

THE INJURIES ALLEGED IN THE STATE COURT COMPLAINT ARE NOT AN "ACCIDENTAL LOSS" AS REQUIRED BY THE POLICY.

A. The Allstate Deluxe Homeowners Policy creates one contract between Allstate and all of the insureds.

The first paragraph of appellant's argument under Point II is incorrect. Allstate's policy provides that "Allstate will pay all sums arising from an accidental loss which an insured person becomes legally obligated to pay . . . " What is included in this provision is a specifically defined class of injury, i.e., injury

arising from accidental loss. Inasmuch as the injuries giving rise to the claims here were caused by Nauth stabbing Prasad, there is no accidental loss and Prasad's injury is not covered. This is true regardless of whether Prasad can bring claims against Palat as well as Nauth.

The allegations against Palat were in actuality for damages arising out of Nauth's attack against Prasad. The complaint alleged negligence against the mother for failure to warn and for failure to see that Nauth took his anti-psychotic medicine but all of the injuries sustained by Prasad were a direct result of the acts of Nauth. In other words, if Nauth had not committed the acts he did upon Prasad, the fact that the mother did not warn Prasad or was negligent in failing to see that Nauth took his anti-psychotic medicine would be meaningless because Palat's failures to act did not in actuality cause injuries to Prasad.

The insuring provision of the policy declares, in pertinent part:

The terms of this policy impose joint obligations on the persons defined as an **insured person**. This means that the responsibilities, acts and failures to act of a person defined as an **insured person** will be binding upon another person found to be an **insured person**.

Palat is an insured person under the policy because she is a specifically named insured. Nauth is likewise an insured person under the policy because he is a resident of Palat's household and a relative, i.e., Palat's son. Because the policy specifically provides that the responsibilities, acts and failures to act of an insured person will be binding upon another insured person, the

criminal act of Nauth is binding on Palat. In other words, because of this specific policy provision, the insureds cannot be viewed separately as appellant requests. The policy could not be any clearer than to inform Palat that if an insured commits an act that is excluded under the policy, then the exclusion is binding on her. Consequently, even though the state court complaint alleged negligence against Palat, the specific language of the policy requires that she is not covered because of the intentional or criminal act committed by Nauth.

The use of the language "an insured" in the intentional or criminal acts exclusion, discussed infra in Part III, also combines to impose joint obligations on all insureds. The exclusion negates coverage for "bodily injury or property damage which may reasonably be expected to result from the intentional or criminal acts of an insured person[.]" This language is significant since it refers to the acts of "an insured person" rather than "the insured person." Case law draws a distinction between exclusionary language referencing acts of "the insured person" and "an" or "any insured person." Under exclusionary language referencing "the insured person," there would be coverage for a negligent insured despite another insured's intentional act. See, e.g., Pawtucket Mut. Ins. Co. v. Lebrecht, 190 A.2d 420 (N.H. 1963); Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington v. Hembree, 773 P.2d 105 (Wash. App. 1989); Uniquard Mut. Ins. Co. v. Argonaut Ins. Co., 579 P.2d 1015 (Wash. App. The court in Uniquard stated the significance of the language "the insured":

The policy extends defense and indemnification to 'the insured,' and it excludes from coverage intentional acts resulting in injury or damage 'expected or intended from the standpoint of the insured.' The parties concede that the boy and the Hensleys are all 'insureds' under the policy. In such instances, where coverage and exclusion are defined in terms of 'the insured,' the courts have uniformly considered the contract between the insurer and the several insureds to be severable, rather than joint, i.e., they are separate contracts with each of the insureds. The result is that an excluded act of one insured does not bar coverage for additional insureds who have not engaged in the excluded conduct.

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